# Pocial Investment: It's Time to Invest in New Brunswick's Children, Families and Communities

Policy Discussion Series Paper No. 4 \* November 1999

With resources provided by the Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health and the Health and Programs Branch of Health Canada, the New Brunswick Reference Group on Social and Economic Inclusion came together to write a paper that expresses concerns about the impact of federal and provincial government policies on children, families, and communities. The N.B. Reference Group is made up of representatives from government and community with a wide range of experience.

We decided not to describe the problem. Instead, check the bibliography. These complex issues are well-described by others. In particular, we recommend the paper written by the Urban Core Support Network in Saint John, New Brunswick entitled *Responding to the Voices of Poverty: Are we up for the challenge?* 

The New Brunswick Reference Group sought solutions but quickly realized that we needed a new way to talk about "child poverty" and the host of social issues implied in those two words. What we want to do in this paper is argue that wise government "spending" is really an investment. Investing in children and families will pay future dividends.

Prepared by Mary Simpson, Writer for the New Brunswick Reference Group. Members of the N. B. Reference Group on Social and Economic Inclusion are: Rina Arseneault, Muriel McQueen Fergusson Centre for Family Violence Research; Monica Chaperlin, Community Health Centre, Saint John; Cathy Wright, Human Development Council; Brenda Murphy, Urban Core Support Network; Léo-Paul Pinet, Centre de Bénevolat de la Peninsule Acadienne Inc.; Carol Amaratunga, Pamela Roy, Linda Snyder, Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health; Fiona Chin-Yee, Health Canada; and Margie Macdonald, Health Canada. With special thanks to our resource people: Claude Snow, Clarissa Hurley, Val Hannon, Dr. Frank Strain, and the Social Policy Renewal Secretariat.

© Copyright is shared between the Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health and the respective authors, 1999. This paper expresses views and opinions of the authors and does not necessarily reflect the official policy of the MCEWH, its sponsors or Health Canada.

#### **Contents**

Executive Summary	2
Introduction	6
Winds of Change	7
Post-Deficit Fatigue Takes Its Toll	8
Poverty: A Loss of Future Social Capital	10
Social Investments Pay Healthy Dividends	13
What is "Social Investment"?	14
The Costs If We Don't Invest	15
Myths and Misconceptions	17
The Challenges We Face.	17
So Where Do We Invest Our Time, Taxes, and Energy?	19
Strategies to Reduce Poverty	
Key Interventions for Poverty Reduction	20
The Foundation	21
Next Steps	28
References Works Consulted	



This paper argues for a transformation of government policy into "healthy public policy". We argue that provincial and federal governments need to re-orient policies and programs in support of locally-based sustainable community development.

We want to spark dialogue. What is the role of government in today's world? What are the social and moral responsibilities of the private sector in this global economy? Is a healthy economy not the result of a healthy society? How can the private, public, and non-profit sectors work together more effectively?

Read on. We want to know what you think.

# Executive Summary

#### Is Canada Slipping Backward?

As New Brunswickers prepare for the new millennium, those who keep an eye on social trends cannot help be concerned. There are strong indicators that Canadians may no longer have the best quality of life in the world. Canada's rating has slipped to 10th on the Human Poverty Index which factors in social conditions including functional illiteracy, poverty and long-term unemployment.<sup>1</sup>

Social investment has not been a priority and the growing costs are evident. For the past decade, Canadians have concentrated their energy on fiscal stabilization at the expense of social equality. Canadians are aware of the costs of poverty but there has been no significant policy response. Since 1989, when the House of Commons unanimously passed a resolution stating their intention to "seek to achieve the goal of eliminating child poverty by the year 2000", the situation has worsened. More than 1.4 million Canadian children now live in poverty, the highest number in our history.<sup>2</sup>

A recent analysis of the statistics and trends in the Atlantic region showed that:

- child poverty is increasing
- children in families headed by a female lone parent are more likely to be poor, and this tendency is increasing
- the rate and depth of poverty for Aboriginal children is even more severe than for children in general
- there has been a lack of available statistical information on the status of Black and visible minority children
- there is a lack of statistical information on out-of-the-mainstream youth (street kids), but the information available indicates that their needs are acute and their numbers are growing.

The evidence does not look good. Our experience working in New Brunswick communities corroborates national and regional trends. The most recent political era in New Brunswick saw economic growth but social development suffered

cutbacks in funding, a movement to centralize services, and the withdrawal of government support from the non-profit sector (i.e., charities and community-based groups).

Millions of dollars that used to flow to community organizations in the Atlantic provinces dried up yet there is a bigger need than ever to deal with the impacts of poverty. The government has reduced support to those living at risk with an expectation that the community will take up the slack.

#### **Social Exclusion**

This is a different kind of poverty from that experienced during the Depression. Some call the impacts of this poverty "social exclusion". Social exclusion is a process whereby individuals or communities are excluded from the economy. Society does not value or want them. These people—single mothers, children, youth, fragile seniors, the sick, disabled—are excluded from the resources and opportunities which are considered the norm in society. No matter how hard they try, the barriers to mainstream society are too strong to breach. To add insult to injury, we blame them for their inability to break through the wall.

So we are poised at the brink. As Canadians and New Brunswickers, do we give up and let the fates of globalization determine the future? Do we let Canada become a third world nation? Or do we roll up our sleeves and develop healthy public policy to shift the course (just as our grandparents and parents did earlier in this century)?

#### A Healthy Economy Requires a Healthy Society

Many believe that the negative impacts of globalization are the unavoidable price that we must pay to have a healthy economy. Whose evidence do we believe? The economists or Bay Street investors? Economists seem to agree there are three key measures to a healthy economy: (1) productivity, (2) income distribution, and (3) employment. An economy is not healthy unless the people are employed, productive, and enjoying a good standard of living.

These three fundamental measures of a healthy economy as defined by economists are not so very different from the measures valued by citizens and sociologists. Therefore, if economic goals mirror social goals, why should Canadians accept social upheaval as a necessary by-product of globalization? Instead of accepting the costs of an unstable global economy as a necessary evil, we should start investing in our social economy. It is time to invest in communities, families, and children. If social arguments are not persuasive enough, then how about the economic arguments?

#### What Happens When We Don't Invest in the Social Economy?

Here are some of the costs we are already paying:

• Federal expenditures on the criminal justice system have reached almost \$10 billion annually.

*The impact of poverty is* pervasive. Health problems associated with poverty are well-known. They include a greater likelihood of low birth weight, inadequate nutrition, infant and childhood death, longterm disability and injury, psychiatric disorders, and poor school performance. The hardship of poverty increases family stress, and reduces the ability of families to cope, which in turn threatens the emotional health of children... Where a community or a neighbourhood is struggling with poverty, the healthy development of its children and youth are at risk—from inadequate housing or recreation and loss of hope.

> Turning Points Health Canada, 1997

- The cost of victims' pain and suffering, lost productivity and other life-long consequences of crime on people and communities may run in the range of \$35 to \$46 billion annually.
- The annual costs of violence against Canadian women is \$4.2 billion.
- It costs up to \$100,000 a year to incarcerate a juvenile offender.
- Crime costs us more than we spend on educating our young people.
- The famous Perry Preschool Program in Michigan showed that a \$5,000 investment in early childhood education turned over \$28,000 in dividends to society.

We all know that prevention pays. A stitch in time save nine. Heavier investment in prevention strategies encourages people to get help before they have a crisis, instead of because they are having a crisis. Yet policies and programs in the public and private sectors still do not set prevention as the highest priority. The bias towards treatment at the expense of prevention must change because we can't afford unnecessary treatment anymore.

#### Social Investment

Social investment is the investment of trust, time, attention, respect, wise policy-making, resources, and money to enable people and communities to realize their talents and full potential. Social investment puts prevention and health promotion at the highest priority because it has a high return on the dollar. Social investment benefits the majority of citizens. Social investment strengthens the economy.

The dividends from wise social investment benefit *everyone*, including the private sector. Social investment is equitable. It is an investment in the rich and the poor, the able and the challenged, the young and the old. Social investment is an investment in society that will ultimately strengthen the economy.

New Brunswick citizens realize that out-dated policies should be transformed into "healthy public policy". Maybe globalization has reduced the power of government, but citizens still want their government leaders to be effective facilitators of public debate and collaborative action. It is time to review and amend social policy.

## Three Foundations for Healthy Public Policy in New Brunswick

We recommend that social investment in New Brunswick be built upon a foundation of:

- collaborative leadership among community, government, and the private sector
- community capacity building
- investment in human and financial resources.

#### Collaborative leadership

In a civil society, elected officials from all three levels of government must be champions of participatory democracy, particularly at the local level. The recent Social Policy Renewal process is an example of an open, yet protected arena for public dialogue. To be collaborative, Canadian public servants must redesign the machinery of government around the citizen rather than expect the citizen to fit into government, with its maze of departments and programs. Citizens must be active participants in the achievement of social goals.

Collaborative leadership is no small shift. The vision and skills of senior bureaucrats will determine how successfully government does business with communities. Governments will require new instruments of governance and approaches to policy development.

#### **Community Capacity Building**

Investing in communities through capacity building means thinking and acting positively. Rather than starting with an analysis of the "problem", the process begins with mapping assets and identifying opportunities. Government leadership focuses on strategies of coaching, encouragement, and belief that communities can pull together towards a shared goal.

At all levels, we must learn the difference between governing and managing. Organizational dysfunction within government, community, and private organizations often traces back to lack of trust (or worse, trustworthiness) and lack of respect for peoples' abilities to do their job without interference.

#### **Human and Financial Resources**

There is nothing wrong with making a financial contribution to help cover operational costs of community organizations. The non-profit sector cannot mobilize volunteers or manage effectively without core funding. Core funding is the lifeblood of an organization. The non-profit sector needs dollars and in-kind assistance from the public and private sectors to sustain community work. Short-term intermittent funding prevents strategic, effective action. We need better tools for targeted grant-making that turn attention to the ROTI (return on taxpayer's investment). Strategic investment in community organizations should actually reduce dependency. Private and public investment can help community organizations leverage investments from other sponsors such as foundations, agencies, and local citizens.

#### It's Time to Engage in a Dialogue

We brought fiscal spending under control so we would not pass on unnecessary fiscal debt to our children. We must now renew social policies so we do not pass on the costs and consequences of poverty, ill health, illiteracy, and crime to our children. It is time to sit down together and work out concrete strategies for investing in children, families, and communities in New Brunswick.

## Introduction

The aim of this paper is to spark debate about ways in which government and communities can work together to overcome the barriers that keep low-income people down and out in New Brunswick. This paper outlines concrete strategies for social investment.

Today, many people are excluded from the economy. Their work, and presumably their purchasing power, is not needed. If you are excluded from the economy, you are excluded from society as well. While economists assure us that the labour market will eventually adjust, just like it did at the turn of the century, others can't help but wonder: "But what if it doesn't?"

Angus Reid, the Canadian sociologist and pollster, has been fretting about this possibility. "What if humans will no longer be needed?" he asks. Horses used to be everywhere, providing a critical source of power and labour in the economy, but the steam locomotive, the tractor, and the automobile replaced them. After they outlived their usefulness to humans, they started to disappear. Mr. Reid wanted to believe the labour market will eventually adjust to technological change but then he discovered that economist Wassily Leontief, winner of the Nobel Prize, believes that:

The world of humans as the most important factor in production is bound to diminish in the same way that the role of horses in agricultural production was first diminished, then eliminated by the introduction of tractors.<sup>3</sup>

"Social exclusion" is a process whereby individuals or communities are excluded from the resources and opportunities which are considered the norm in a society. In rural and urban New Brunswick, those excluded may experience isolation, discrimination, racism, lack of access to services, marginalization from decision-making and/or a low quality of life.

The New Brunswick Reference Group recognizes that the impact of technology, globalization, and many other factors leads to social and economic exclusion of communities, families, youth, and children. Out-dated public policies lead to "social exclusion" which is what happens when people or areas suffer from linked problems such as unemployment, poor skills, low incomes, poor housing,

high crime environments, bad health, poverty, and family break down.4

Surely New Brunswickers want a society that includes all people (youth, children, people with disabilities, seniors). Surely their contribution to society is not worthless or meaningless. The hidden social and fiscal costs of exclusion are too high.

To ensure that those facing barriers to full participation in the economy are not excluded, we need "social investment". Social investment is the investment of trust, time, attention, respect, wise policy-making, and money to enable people and communities to realize their talents and full potential. Social investment puts prevention at the highest priority because it has a high return on the dollar. Social investment benefits the majority of citizens. Social investment strengthens the economy.

Governments do have room for choice, and much depends on our politics and the values that citizens bring to political life.

Keith G. Banting

The goal of this paper is to present some of the sobering evidence and promote dialogue among New Brunswick citizens and policy makers about how social policy in New Brunswick can be transformed to strengthen the social economy. This paper represents our collective thoughts. Our concerns are based on first-hand experience which are validated by Canadian researchers who are carefully asking tough questions, gathering data, and making sense of the changing world around us.

This paper attempts to answer the following questions: What is social investment? Why should we invest in children, families, and communities? Where should we invest our time, talents, and resources? What are the strategies for reducing poverty? What are the building blocks upon which we can build a stronger economy?

## Winds of Change

#### **Exciting Times...**

It's exciting times in New Brunswick. After ten years of provincial policy focused on economic development and building the self-esteem of its citizens, the province is confident and self-assured. Fifty-two heads of state of the francophone countries of the world recently flew into southeast New Brunswick to partake of New Brunswick hospitality (September 1999). Heads turned. The world admired the land, the sea, and the different cultures that thrive together.

The federal government finally has a surplus to manage: tax cuts? or new spending? These are the big questions of the day. At a Canadian premiers' meeting in August 1999, the rest of Canada was impressed with New Brunswick's new premier who helped forge a consensus on a balanced approach for "better competitiveness through the combination of reduced federal taxes and full restoration of the Canada Health and Social Transfer Program to fund social programs like health care and post-secondary education." The federal government is consulting the country about a "national children's agenda" and there are rumours that the Canadian budget for the year 2000 will be the children's budget.

New Brunswickers are riding high with pride and enthusiasm. The economy clicks along. In not too many days, the clock will strike twelve, and a new millennium will begin. A 1,000 year epoch will be completed. Fresh winds of change are blowing.

#### ...Yet Worrisome Times

The most recent political era in New Brunswick saw growth and change in some sectors of the New Brunswick economy, most notably in the high technology and communications fields.<sup>6</sup> But all of the changes have not been positive for the non-profit sector. Not just in New Brunswick this period featured:

A child is born in New Brunswick on New Year's Eve 1999. What lies ahead for this millennium child? Is she born at risk? Will she be surrounded by two active parents, a supportive extended family, a caring community? Unto us a child is born.

- cutbacks in funding,
- a movement to centralize services, and
- the withdrawal of government support from the non-profit sector (i.e., charities and community-based groups).

No one knows where the six billionth baby was born. What lies *ahead for these babies* of the millennium? What quality of care and nurturing can New Brunswick children expect to receive during the next six precious formative years? Will their schooling meeting particular needs? Will their parents be affluent enough to supplement education with the music, arts, dance, and sport no longer offered through public education?

Advocates were enthusiastic about the effects of New Brunswick's economic policies. New Brunswickers welcomed relocating companies and jobs to New Brunswick, as well as the fundamental shift to a knowledge-based economy. The province had to become more competitive in the global market place, but critics feared that the new jobs would be low-wage and unstable, with little promise of long-term sustainable benefit for the province. Others pointed to the questionable ethical and fiscal strategies of tax incentives to attract firms to the province which included lower worker's compensation rates and lower benefits to workers.<sup>7</sup>

Not every community in New Brunswick has experienced a "miracle". The Acadian Peninsula is experiencing a social and economic crisis: fishery problems, negative impacts of globalization on the regional economy, the exodus of the youth, illiteracy, and seasonal employment. This rural economy depends on the service sector which in turn creates a necessary dependence on social programs. The forestry and fishing sectors are as reliant upon employment insurance as the seasonal workers they depend upon. Cuts to employment insurance have brought about a loss of income in the order of \$250 a month for each person receiving benefits. Some cannot qualify at all. As these universal programs are reduced bit by bit, the disparity between the regions hit hardest (e.g., Acadian Peninsula) and the rest of the province becomes more striking because citizens depend on transfer payments (e.g., employment insurance and income support) to support themselves during the periods when industry does not need them.

The much larger forces of "globalization"—the increasing integration of international markets for goods, services, and finance—cause all of these pressures felt locally. Economic borders are dramatically opening. Multinationals organize production on global strategies. New information systems, telecommunications, and computer-assisted design and manufacturing are transforming production. Fewer workers are needed, and those who remain require greater skills. In Canada, international trade is growing more rapidly than interprovincial trade. We are deeply dependent on the international market, particularly the United States. Apparently, no other OECD country is as dependent on the market of a single country. Most spread the risks more broadly.8

#### **Post-Deficit Fatigue Takes Its Toll**

One strategy pursued by the federal government to reduce the federal deficit was to cut social spending. The expectation seemed to be that the non-profit sector would take up the slack. But government also cut its funding to registered charities so charities were hard hit by cutbacks too. The Canadian Centre of Philanthropy estimates that for every 1% cut in government grants and transfers to charities, a charity needs a 5.8% increase in individual donations to maintain budgetary levels. Those donations have not been flooding in. Community leaders are tired. Volunteers are weary.

#### The Non-Profit Sector: Weary, Disheartened

Millions of dollars that used to flow to community organizations in the Atlantic provinces dried up but there was no diminishment in responsibilities of community groups left to deal with increasing poverty and such problems as youth crime, housing, and teen pregnancy rates.

During the past several years, provincial and federal governments have with-drawn contributions to the core administration costs of the non-profit sector. This sends a message to communities that government does not value the work of the non-profit sector. Of Government expects community organizations to be completely independent, raising funds to cover staff salaries, rent, and overhead expenses.

While this shift has had some positive effects (partnering, doing more with less), it is also taking a toll. Without staff, volunteers cannot be mobilized; funds cannot be raised; the core work is severely limited. Some organizations give up and fold. Others are being hounded by Revenue Canada who has found a new sector to audit.

Monies that actually flow from government coffers into the non-profit sector come with so many strings attached that community organizations are sometimes tempted to shun them. Special projects often weaken the organization's capacity to carry out its central work. Only a small percentage of government funding (if even that) can be spent on overhead.

There was a time when government respected the non-profit sector's commitment to the public good and favoured organizations such as the Victorian Order of Nurses for out-sourcing contracts. No longer. Today, the non-profit sector competes head-to-head with private sector businesses and this is changing the sector fundamentally. While it may be time for the non-profit sector to restructure, hopefully the "third" sector will gain from the mistakes of the private and public sectors' re-engineering experience rather than weaken.

To many community groups, it feels like decisions are made in government corridors without consultation with the groups most affected. The lack of government interest in investment frustrates community organizations with innovative and entrepreneurial ideas. "Partnering" with government to achieve shared goals is rarely easy and requires extra resources that organizations don't have. The value of the time and effort spent negotiating approval for a project can be greater than the value of the money sought.

#### The Family: Worried, Excluded

At the family level, there are also concerns. Cutbacks have hurt the poor and disadvantaged the hardest. When music disappears from the school, families with disposable income will find a private music teacher. When health services become harder to access, the more affluent families will pay for alternatives. The more affluent you are, the more you can immunize yourself against cut-backs in social services. People do not experience the effects of cutbacks equally. The outcome of downloading hurts the poor, both directly and indirectly.<sup>11</sup>

The problem of child poverty in Canada is staggering. The poor are really poor. The problem is getting worse.

Canadian Institute of Child Health

Will the baby born on New Year's Eve grow up in poverty? If so, the baby faces many barriers to living a full and happy life. Government continues to offer social programs but it is not always clear whether they effectively address the real needs of their clients. Recent studies have shown that changes in social programs are not meeting the needs of people with disabilities, single mothers, and aboriginal communities. Critics, including economists, point to the need to revise programs—design, implementation and evaluation methods—so that impact and effectiveness can be shown.

#### Government: Retreating? Or Ready to Face the Challenges?

Increasingly, the ethics of altruism and of interdependence are expected to replace the current ethics of individualism and social security of the past twenty years. There seems to be an assumption that the State no longer needs to intervene directly because communities are expected to regulate themselves and work out their own problems. Collective action and self-sufficiency have become the new forms of social protection. Rather than being in the foreground, the State has retreated to become the claims officer of last resort. Government seems to want the private sector and community initiative to ensure the security of its citizens without providing the requisite policies, incentives, and resources.

Mounting discontent in New Brunswick exerted pressure on the previous government to revisit social policies and the delivery of social programs. It was time to renew the social policy framework which government has not significantly revised for years. In the fall of 1998, the government established a Special Cabinet Committee on Social Policy Renewal and an interdepartmental Social Policy Secretariat. A consultative process rolled out. People put aside their cynicism and participated in meetings held all over the province. There was hope that government would balance its attention to social and fiscal policy.

Then there was an election. The social policy review process stopped and the new government pledged that: "Our social programs should ensure dignified and meaningful lives for those who need assistance, but also recognize the importance of providing the support and resources necessary for an environment in which New Brunswickers can work together, be self-reliant and take responsibility for their own lives". <sup>15</sup>

We agree. It is time for action. Now is the time to prevent the gap between the rich and poor from growing.

Poverty: A Loss of Future Social Capital

There are few issues on which opposing political parties and disparate interest groups agree, but one whose gravity has society's unanimous recognition is that of poverty and its effects on children. Children and youth represent the future of Canadian society, and their status today will affect their future performance as citizens and leaders.

Poverty effects all aspects of children's health. One cannot separate the health and well-being of children from the health and well-being of their parents and family.<sup>16</sup>

The Canadian Institute of Child Health described the situation bluntly six years ago:

The problem of poverty in Canada is staggering. The poor are really poor. The problem is getting worse. Poor children do not share the same level of health as children who are not poor.<sup>17</sup>

**Poor children have poorer health than other children.** Poor children are more likely to be born prematurely; to have a low birth-weight; and to have a greater risk of physical, emotional and social disorders. They are more likely to be hyperactive, to exhibit emotional and conduct disorders, and to have trouble with the law.

Poor children leave school sooner, and receive less education overall, than other children. The school drop-out rate of poor children is double that of non-poor children.<sup>19</sup>

**Poor children face greater risks to health and safety as a result of living in unsafe environments.** Their homes are more likely to need major repairs and to lack safety features like smoke alarms. Poor children are also more likely to live in children's aid facilities or foster care.<sup>20</sup>

**Poor children engage in riskier behaviours.** They are more likely to smoke, take drugs or have a drinking problem. They are less likely to use birth control, and as a result, teenage girls from low-income families are five times as likely to become pregnant as girls from higher income families. Teens from poor families are also less likely to use condoms as protection from sexually transmitted disease.<sup>21</sup>

A recent analysis of the statistics and trends<sup>22</sup> showed that:

- Child poverty is increasing in the Atlantic region.
- Children in families headed by a female lone parent are more likely to be poor, and this tendency is increasing in the Atlantic region.
- The rate and depth of poverty for Aboriginal children is even more severe than for children in general.
- There has been a lack of available statistical information on the status of Black and visible minority children.
- There is a lack of statistical information on out-of-the-mainstream youth (street kids), but the little information available indicates that their needs are acute and their numbers are growing.

In 1989, the Canadian House of Commons unanimously passed a resolution to eliminate child poverty by the year 2000. A decade later, statistics reveal that our country has not only failed to meet this goal, but that levels of child poverty increased and indicators of social equality deteriorated. More than 1.4 million Canadian children now live in poverty, the highest number in our history.<sup>23</sup>

I believe child poverty is the great social policy challenge of this generation.

Paul Martin Minister of Finance January 1997

Poverty is a great enemy to human happiness; it certainly destroys liberty, and it makes some virtues impracticable and others extremely difficult.

Samuel Johnson

Children live in poverty when their parent(s), caregiver(s), and hence families cannot provide for them adequately. Often the very presence of children increases the likelihood of poverty when the social structures are not in place to support families or when jobs do not provide adequate wages. We must not isolate "child poverty" from the social conditions that create it or divert our attention from poverty in general.

Poverty in Canada "has a woman's face". In 1994, Canadian women's average earnings for full-time work were 70% of men's, a figure which has not changed significantly for decades. <sup>24</sup> In New Brunswick, in 1994, women working full-time earned 64% of the earnings of men, only two percentage points more than in 1971. In a 1996 report, the New Brunswick Advisory Council on the Status of Women pointed out that if "progress" continues at this rate, it will take approximately 400 years for women's full-time remuneration to reach parity with men's. <sup>25</sup> This is disheartening enough, but full-time earnings, however unsatisfactory, are not the luxury of many women in the workforce.

Demographic shifts are affecting the workforce in which many more mothers work outside the home. Women are more likely to work part-time than men and be concentrated in low-wage occupations. The proportion of the labour force that is female has risen from 13% in 1911 to almost half today. The women's labour force participation rate is 69% nationally and 54% in New Brunswick. The profile of the working woman has also changed in the past several decades. Women who work are now likely to be mothers, married or single, working to support their families.

The National Council of Welfare<sup>29</sup> identifies three major groups of poor women in Canada:

- single women under 65 (40% are poor),
- single women over 65 (45% are poor), and
- single parent mothers under 65 with children under the age of 18 (The poverty rate for this group is 61%, and an even higher 74% in the Atlantic region).<sup>30</sup>

When women are poor their children are poor. There is a symbiotic relationship between parenthood and workforce barriers. Comparable changes in women's domestic roles and perceived responsibilities have not accompanied the huge social changes that have occurred in labour force characteristics in this century. Women's unpaid contribution to the world's economy is estimated at \$11 trillion, a figure which forces us to confront the fact that "Fully recognizing women's economic contribution will completely change all the socio-economic premises on which we have erroneously founded our gender relations."<sup>31</sup>

Canada has made some progress in recent years in recognizing and measuring the value of women's unpaid work. The 1996 census for the first time asked questions about unpaid work done in the home. A recent study in Canada found that women assume a greater total workload than men but still assume a smaller share of paid work.<sup>32</sup> With the current demographic shift towards an older population, the position of women as the bearers of the greatest burden of unpaid work is not likely to improve soon.<sup>33</sup>

Will our New Brunswick New Year's baby be born to a single mother? In the Atlantic region, 74% of single parent mothers under 65 with children under the age of 18 are poor. In 1996, there were 29,435 lone-parent families in New Brunswick, 24,595 of which were headed by women, an increase from 21,995 in 1991.

Women and the people they care for are facing a heavier workload in an atmosphere of diminished resources and lower tolerance for poverty. Marilyn Waring points out that "to refuse to recognize (women's) economic production and reproduction as work, is a fundamental and universal breach of human rights."<sup>34</sup>

Poverty affects society and weakens our economy. Poverty affects the health and future of all our children.

Young people... are the next generation of prospective parents, many of whom will soon be entering into periods of family formation. The economic hardships experienced by young people, unable to secure sustaining attachments in the labour market, are seeding the next generation of child poverty in Canada.<sup>35</sup>

So do we value our children or not? Are we willing to invest in our more fragile human resources or not? Will dollars invested now, pay dividends in the future? If yes, where do we invest? What policies, programs, and enterprises are wise investments?

Social Investments Pay Healthy Dividends

#### A Healthy Economy Requires a Healthy Society

Even though Canadians have balanced the federal budget, a strong feeling remains that "economics", not social goals, should dominate all federal policy decisions. But whose economic theory are we buying into?<sup>36</sup> Economists seem to agree that there are three key measures to a healthy economy: (1) productivity, (2) income distribution, and (3) employment.<sup>37</sup> An economy is not healthy unless the people are employed, productive, and enjoying a good standard of living.

**Productivity** is the country's ability to raise its output per worker. The importance of productivity is not so much to help our international competitiveness. Increasing productivity is the best means of improving the standard of living. Not many understand productivity. Economists themselves are mystified why productivity growth—which grew so well in the 1950s and 1960s—slowed to a crawl thereafter.<sup>38</sup>

**Income distribution**. The goal is to have a reasonable distribution of income levels. An unhealthy economy has a few rich at the top with a lot of poor at the bottom. While some may not consider income distribution an important public policy issue, economists can show us examples where changes in income distribution have had a bigger impact on peoples' lives than any deliberate public policy action.

Poverty will affect the health of New Bruns-wick's New Year baby. The health and wellbeing of the baby cannot be separated from the health and well-being of its parents and family. The less money people have, the less likely they are to be healthy.

For the economy, the important things are productivity, income distribution, and unemployment. If these things are satisfactory not much else can go wrong, while if they are not, nothing can go right. Yet very little of the business of economic policy is concerned with these big trends.

Paul Krugman

**Employment and Unemployment**. High unemployment means that productive workers are not being used. This prevents the economy from performing as well as it might. Why do we care about unemployment? High unemployment breeds persistent poverty. Canadians do not want to build a society which does not quickly draw young people into the work world. Canadians value work. (In fact, Canadians are *addicted* to work.<sup>39</sup>)

These three fundamental measures of a healthy economy defined by economists are not so very different from the measures valued by sociologists. So if economic goals mirror social goals, then what are the arguments against investing in communities, families, and children? Has it simply become the fashion to deride government investment in social goods because government's credibility has faded in recent years? Do Canadian citizens really believe that the government wastes *every* tax dollar it spends?

Donald Savoie explains the hysteria about government spending:

Thirty years ago, the public sector could do little wrong and everyone was clamouring for a larger role for government in society. The private sector, meanwhile, could do little right, continually confronting charges of greed, corporate welfare bums and of being poor corporate citizens with little, if any concern for the public good. Today, it is the direct opposite. The private sector, it seems, can do no harm and government is generally regarded as incompetent and wasteful.<sup>40</sup>

#### What is "Social Investment"?

Social investment is the investment of trust, time, attention, respect, wise policy-making, resources, and money to enable people and communities to realize their talents and full potential. Social investment gives prevention and health promotion the highest priority because they have a high return on the dollar. Social investment benefits the majority of citizens. Social investment strengthens the economy.

Which is the best investment? A tire factory or a new school? Who will benefit? Which will provide the best return on investment to all citizens? Some argue that government investment crowds out the more legitimate private investment. Others argue a school built with tax dollars yields more value to the economy than the tire plant built with private (and public) funds. The school may be the better investment because it will produce educated young people who can bring their skills and output to the economy. A high-quality education system educating generations of productive citizens produces a healthier society. Research proves that education levels are a determinant of health.<sup>41</sup>

The dividends from wise social investment benefit *everyone*, including the private sector. Social investment is equitable. It is an investment in the rich *and* the poor, the able and the challenged, the young and the old. Social investment is an investment in society that will ultimately strengthen the economy.

If our millennium baby's mother is poor, he or she is more likely to be born prematurely; to have a low birth-weight; and to have a greater risk of physical, emotional and social disorders. Our child is more likely to be hyperactive, to exhibit emotional and conduct disorders and to have trouble with the law.

Why should taxpayers insist that government be responsible for social investment? Should the private sector not take on its fair share in a global economy which emphasizes privatization and deregulation? There is one economic reality that cannot be ignored: the private sector does not invest in public goods. Put simply, government collects tax dollars to invest in defence, health, education, and roads because the private sector does not invest in something that they cannot charge for directly.<sup>42</sup>

Government, with its ability to bill taxpayers, can invest in all the public services that everyone, including the private sector, depends upon. These social investments will pay back returns in the form of reduced crime, reduced violence, an improved standard of living, equity, and better health.

#### The Costs If We Don't Invest

We all know the cliché that *an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure*. Yet this is not reflected in our approach to national and provincial budgets. "One dollar 'saved' today simply represents several dollars of spending delayed." <sup>43</sup>

Dollars saved now by reducing transfer payments to programs for single parents, for example, will later need to be redirected towards the programs and services to rehabilitate youth who have turned to criminal activity as a result of the conditions of their childhood. Ross cites a more concrete example:

It is ironic that while we piously speak about the need and urgency to bring down the fiscal deficit because we do not want to burden future generations, we don't consider the "social deficit" we are passing on as services and programs, and social assistance benefits are slashed. One child in neo-natal intensive care costs the health care system \$8,400.00 a week. If the child is there because the mother was malnourished and the baby was low birth weight, how much money did we save by depriving the mother of a level of social assistance adequate to feed her properly during her pregnancy?<sup>44</sup>

If money talks, then perhaps we should examine the evidence. We pay directly for social inequity when it bounces back to us in the form of crime and violence. How much?

#### The Cost of Crime

Federal expenditures on the criminal justice system have reached almost \$10 billion annually. Ten billion dollars represents only a portion of the costs of crime. The National Crime Prevention Council estimates that the cost of victims' pain and suffering, lost productivity and other life-long consequences of crime on people and communities may run in the range of \$35 to \$46 billion annually.<sup>45</sup>

Here are some more examples of the costs of crime:

• In Canada it costs \$40,000 - \$80,000 each year to keep one adult in a correctional institution.

### Determinants of Health

- Income and social status
- Social support networks
- Education
- Employment and working conditions
- Social environments
- Physical envirionment
- Personal health practices and coping skills
- Healthy child development
- Genetics
- Health services
- Gender
- Culture

If our baby is raised in poverty, the child is more likely to leave school sooner, and receive less education overall, than other children. Will the child have access to programs that address particular learning needs and disabilities? the school drop-out rate of poor children is double that of non-poor.

- It costs up to \$100,000 a year to incarcerate a juvenile offender.
- The estimate of \$46 billion, the total cost of crime in Canada, does not include white collar crime. 46

In other words, crime costs us more than we spend on educating our young people. Crime costs more than twice what we spend on supporting unemployed people through the Employment Insurance program. It is more than the government of Canada spends on pensions for seniors (\$15.8 billion), the child tax benefit (\$5 billion), the Canada Assistance Plan (\$7.4 billion), and child care (\$5.5 billion) combined.<sup>47</sup>

The National Crime Prevention Council learned that well-designed social development programs can prevent crime and be cost effective. Thirty years of evaluation of the famous Perry Preschool Program in Michigan showed that a \$5,000 investment in early childhood education turned over \$28,000 in dividends to society. Crime prevention experts agree that "the cost of current approaches to controlling crime is so high and the success rate of current approaches to reducing crime is so low that it is fiscally irresponsible not to look at alternatives."

#### The Cost of Violence

The annual costs of violence against Canadian women is \$4.2 billion. A 1995 study estimated the selected economic costs of three forms of violence against women—(1) sexual assault/rape; (2) women abuse in intimate partnerships; and (3) incest/child sexual assault—in four policy areas: health/medicine, criminal justice, social services/education, and labour/employment.<sup>50</sup>

The report distinguishes between state, personal, and third-party costs of violence against women. State costs include such things as incarceration of people convicted of rape, child molestation, or assault. Personal costs include loss of income due to hospitalization or other treatment for injuries sustained in a sexual assault or transportation and accommodation costs. Economic costs to third parties include the expense of sheltering a friend who has been abused, or an insurance firm's expenses covering benefits or claims of a women who experiences violence.

While the report shows the effect of violence on government, institutions, and business, the global picture is incomplete, so that only partial estimates are possible. The partial estimated annual costs of violence against women in four policy areas are:

Social services/education \$2,368,924,297 Criminal Justice \$871,908,583 Labour/employment \$576,764,400 Health/medical \$408,357,042

Total \$4,225,954,322

These costs are divided among the state (87.5%), the individual (11.5%), and third parties (.9%).

Will our New Brunswick baby be abused? Poverty is one of the major contributing factors to the violence experienced by children. In the hierarchy of industrialized countries, Canada's child poverty ranks second to other nations. In Canadian cities, one out of every three children is raised in a home with an income below the poverty line. In rural areas, the rate is one in five. Poverty itself constitutes a form of violence, but that violence is compounded by the particular pressures of living in a society that values consumption and material wealth.

#### Myths and Misconceptions

#### Myth: The Community Should Solve All its Own Social Problems

There seems to be a new mentality in which community spirit is seen as the answer to social problems, as if there was no longer any point in developing social security programs. Yes, citizens should take responsibility for the collective well-being of their fellow citizens, but should government expect Canadians to do it on their own? Strong voices in support of globalization would lead us to believe that the traditional social programs can simply be replaced by co-operation, human warmth, family life, and community spirit.

The new discourse of social economy makes use of the slogan "the government is all of us," a phrase which creates confusion and which releases our elected representatives from their responsibility to govern, namely, protecting citizens from certain risks, protecting people and families who are incapable of providing for themselves, and promoting well-being and social justice. We all are responsible for contributing to a civil society, but government leadership is critical.

#### Myth: There is Huge Army of Volunteers Waiting for Instructions

There is a misconception that people are only too happy to contribute their time, interest, and money into solving social problems, a reality which may apply in certain cases, but cannot be applied generally. One would also have us believe there are local service groups which are ready to sponsor and sustain activities such as literacy courses, there are corporations which are ready to make donations because they want to do their part in solving social problems, and there are support networks which one may join to get assistance. Maybe in some places but rural and urban New Brunswick are lacking these bootstrap resources.

#### The Challenges We Face

#### With Whom Does Responsibility Lie?

The first question which comes to mind in speaking of social investment is to know with whom the responsibility lies of solving social problems: the individual, the family, the community or the government? It is a question of balance, of shared responsibility with each group having a part to play.

#### **Survival First**

We cannot disregard the fundamental needs of people. We can define social well-being in general as earning security, the protection of children, employment opportunities, housing, care of the elderly, etc. However, needs vary from one family to another and from one community to another. Therefore, programs should be adapted to the conditions of people, not the reverse. We must first respond to the most essential needs. It is useless to speak of lasting development if one cannot survive even in the short term.

In New Brunswick, the overall percentage of children under 18 living in low income families is 21%. Those living in lone-mother families is 74%. The basic income assistance rate for a family of three in New Brunswick is \$775, which annualizes to \$9300. well under the lowincome cut-off (LICO) for a family of three which is \$22,000. For a single mother with one child in the workforce, it takes 73 hours of work per week at the minimum wage to reach the LICO.

#### Language and Culture

A community in the minority must struggle constantly to preserve its language and culture, and it must proceed with vigilance and prudence. For example, the Acadian Peninsula was, until recently, the only region of the province where a person speaking only French (a unilingual Francophone) could attain the position of regional director of Health and Community Services. When the region incorporated the Chaleur region, this position became bilingual. This means that today a unilingual Francophone can no longer be a regional director (in this particular department) in any part of the province; the same is not the case for unilingual Anglophones.<sup>51</sup>

#### **Rural Isolation**

The rural regions of the province present another considerable challenge. Rural life in the proximity of a big centre is not the same thing as rural life near a small urban centre. Citizens of rural regions are sorely tested by transportation problems, isolation, and exodus. Even those who come in from outside the region find themselves doubly penalized because they must spend a considerable amount of time on the road when they make house calls or go to meetings.

#### **Equity**

Another challenge consists of insuring the equality not so much of resources, but of results. In order to guarantee equal chances and equal results, the division of resources cannot be equal, but must be asymmetrical according to need. In other words, we must assign resources on the basis of need and not equally across the whole province. In the area of social investment, the question that must be answered is how to create social programs which insure equal chances for everyone in a context of renewal, continuous change and profound transformation of the environment.

#### Youth at Risk

Young people between 16 and 19 years old present yet another considerable challenge. Many young people feel the effects of the financial stress of their parents. In fact, they are living with adult problems. Some are also victims of abuse or rejection, or see violence at home every day. There is at this time a real deficiency, in the sense that no protection service is offered to young adults, after their adolescence (16 years old) and before their majority (19 years old).

#### The Impact of Social Exclusion on Families

When families are excluded from the economy, the burden is excessive. Families feel guilty, insecure, vulnerable, and powerless. The expectations which weigh on them are too high, like an elastic band stretched to its limit. Many families live in fear and anguish, and consequently are difficult to contact or help.

When the millennium child living in poverty becomes a teenager in the year 2013, he or she will engage in riskier behaviours. The teenager is more likely to smoke, take drugs or have a drinking problem. He or she is less likely to use birth control, and as a result, teenage girls from lowincome families are five times as likely to become pregnant as girls from higher income families. Teens from poor families are less likely to use condoms as protection from sexually transmitted disease.

#### Holes in the Safety Net

The obsessive pursuit of deficit reduction has seemed to be a fiscally responsible course of action and few have argued that the reduction of national debt is not necessary. However, when government diverts money from social programs in favour of deficit reduction, and if tax relief benefits only the wealthiest, the effect is merely a reshuffling of the financial burden. And the Canadian provinces are hit hard by the shuffle because social spending—health and education are the big ones—is mostly their responsibility. A large proportion of New Brunswick's provincial purse goes into social spending.

There is a growing number of rural people who are at risk of becoming marginalized: victims of the black hole of employment insurance; those who are insolvent and locked out; those whose houses have been put up for sale; those who have been deprived of electricity, water and facilities, who sleep fully dressed and who keep warm by candle light; those who are victims of economic exploitation, having given up their property and gone from being owners to lodgers in their own houses, etc.<sup>52</sup>

#### **Impact of Cuts to Services**

On the bureaucratic level, not only are fewer services available because of the cuts, but it is more difficult to gain access to those which remain. Citizens have to actively search out the agency or organization responsible for providing the service they need. New public programs are often set up on a temporary basis and are not sufficiently funded, and, most of the time, they are more oriented towards acute crises than towards chronic ones.<sup>53</sup>

So Where Do We Invest Our Time, Taxes, and Energy?

So where do we invest? There are no sure investments with quick payback. As in any good investment portfolio, strategies must be diverse and chosen for steady long-term gain.

When it comes to investing, it is factors like leadership, wisdom, long-term thinking, management, effectiveness, and adaptation to change that matter the most. The initiatives that exhibit those traits are the ones we want to invest in. Canadians don't mind investing their tax dollars wisely.

#### **Strategies to Reduce Poverty**

There are no easy solutions to poverty. It is a multi-faceted problem that requires a combination of healthy public policy and diverse community-based approaches. Sherri Torjman explains that:

There is a lack of statistical information on out-of-the-main-stream youth, but the information available indicates that their needs are acute and their numbers are growing. Given today's trends, there is a chance that our millennium child could wind up on the streets.

When justice prevails, charity is not needed.

Ralph Nader

Community approaches to poverty reduction do not regard individuals as "clients" who need assistance. Nor do community approaches consider poverty alleviation an end in itself. Instead, it must be a subset of broader economic development actively pursuing market-based strategies, often geographic and sector-specific, that exploit market niches. Community initiatives build on the ideas and strengths of individuals, and recognize their ability to apply unique talents, creativity and hard work to improve their lives.<sup>54</sup>

#### Key Interventions for Poverty Reduction<sup>55</sup>

Meeting Basic Needs	Removing Barriers	Building Skills	Promoting Economic Development	
Physical Security				
• food • housing & utilities	• child care	• life skills	• job creation/retention	
• clothing • clean water & sanitation	• work-related costs	language training	• self-employment	
protection from violence & abuse	• health-related costs	• literacy/ numeracy	access to capital	
Health Mental Health				
health care services     early child development	disability-related costs	• job search	technical assistance	
• self-esteem & support				
counselling & mental health services	skills accreditation	academic upgrading		
• substance abuse services		• job training		

What is encouraging is that some of these strategies listed above are underway in New Brunswick. Provincial policy and community-based approaches are active in all four intervention areas. However, New Brunswick policies and programs tend to focus on the individual, with little corresponding investment in communities.

It is difficult for the individual to pull his/her self up by the boot-straps if the community is not similarly striving to be prosperous and sustainable. New Brunswick needs a re-orientation of provincial and federal policies that aims to support locally-based community development as well as individual-focused support, e.g., provincially-funded early childhood initiative (individual) and the federally-funded family resource centres and pre-natal nutrition programs (community).

#### **Removing the Barriers**

The new Conservative government's platform expressed particular concern about removing barriers to employment.<sup>56</sup>

Most people want to work and earn a decent living. But sometimes, in its attempt to help people, government creates financial barriers and disincentives that discourage people from working.

We (the N.B. Conservative Party) believe the option of earning a living through work should always be more beneficial than receiving social assistance benefits. Social assistance programs should be designed to encourage and assist able individuals to enter the workforce not discourage them. At the same time, we want to make sure the working poor and families in need are not disadvantaged by taking away assistance. We will remove barriers and disincentives to work by reviewing all social assistance and related programs to remove those barriers and disincentives that discourage people from finding full and part-time work that will help bring greater dignity and satisfaction to their lives.<sup>57</sup>

Yes, we agree and we hope that government will involve the community and those affected in reviewing social assistance and related programs. This is an opportunity to work collaboratively to strengthen community and government relations.

Together, government, communities, and the private sector can review past performance and see how effective programs have been. A lack of formal evaluation makes it hard to really know how well interventions are working. How well matched are the public policies to community approaches? Are programs designed properly? Are programs effective? How do we measure "effectiveness"? What are the results of efforts to partner between government and community? How can we build on what works well?

## The Foundation

We recommend that social investment in New Brunswick be built upon a foundation of:

- collaborative leadership among community, government, and the private sector,
- · community capacity building, and
- · human and financial resources.

#### Collaborative Leadership

#### Civic Engagement

Canadians are struggling to be active citizens but we want better democratic mechanisms to facilitate participation.

In a civil society, elected officials from all three levels of government must be champions of participatory democracy, particularly at the local level. Even though municipal councils are mandated to look after "sidewalks and sewers", this does not prevent them from encouraging or facilitating collaborative community planning processes. Community action starts locally and we need our local elected officials to pay attention to social issues.

On one hand, elected officials are rightfully concerned about open dialogue that may put them at risk of forfeiting their political careers. On the other hand, fear of having comments misconstrued by the media is no excuse for excluding citizens from public policy discussions.

The Social Policy Renewal process organized by a secretariat and community leaders from across the province provided an open yet protected arena for dialogue in many communities throughout the province. While it was not perfect, it was a step in the right direction. The high participation rate spoke for itself.

## From Controlling to Collaboration: When Government Wants to be **Partners**

The private, public, and non-profit sectors must work together. To be collaborative, Canadian public services will have to change in fundamental ways in order to meet the following challenges. Government agencies must learn to:

- integrate diverse policy fields around broad social goals or outcomes
- redesign the machinery of government around the citizen rather than expect the citizen to fit into government, with its maze of departments and programs, and
- enlist citizens as active participants in the achievement of key social goals.<sup>58</sup>

#### Senior Leadership Within the Civil Service

Collaborative leadership is no small shift. The vision and skills of senior bureaucrats will determine how successfully government does business with communities.<sup>59</sup> Governments will require new tools and instruments of governance and new approaches to policy development, planning and evaluation, co-ordination among partners, and engagement of citizens.

At the *minimum*, this new collaborative approach should include:

- a broader vision of policy
- sensitivity training for civil servants
- co-ordination across policy fields and jurisdictions

- agreement on key goals or outcomes across departments and jurisdictions
- an effective way of assessing whether the right outcomes have been selected
- a method of assessing whether desired outcomes are being achieved
- the co-ordinated delivery of programs and services, and
- effective means of engaging citizens.

Deputy ministers and directors must take the lead in transforming government practices between:

- citizens and their governments,
- federal, provincial, and municipal governments, and
- central agencies and line departments.

#### Communities Embracing Change are Impatient, Engaged, and Risk-receptive

When the government provides all the services and has all the answers, the unintended result can be that communities are encouraged to be dependent on the expertise of the "professionals" who do things for their clients and communities. These communities tend to be patient, waiting for the funding to come through, and compliant, following all the rules to get the money.

Communities willing to invest in the future display the opposite attributes. They are impatient and engaged. They engage in strategic planning and action. They would rather act than wait. They are risk-receptive rather than risk-averse. They would rather beg for forgiveness than approval. Strong communities are good initiators rather than good followers.

#### **Power Dynamics**

We have to create safe places for dialogue and planning for action. If there is fear of repercussion, people will not be open. Recently in Moncton, John McKnight<sup>60</sup> suggested that government agencies should sit back from the table in a supportive role because communities are so used to giving up power and responsibility to government. Communities realize that they have become meek and complacent. Elected officials and bureaucrats blanch at the thought of a public dialogue with advocates. So both hold back.

One way for government to engage citizens is to *provide support* and resources rather than *provide services* and keep control over communities. Collaborative leadership is facilitative and enabling. It encourages self-reliance. There is more listening and less talking. There are more requests to help rather than announcements: "I'm here to help". Sometimes leadership means patiently watching mistakes being made instead of rushing to intervene too soon.

#### **Healthy Public Policy**

Healthy public policy is a term to describe policies that are transformed by concern for health, equity, and achieving results. In the next millennium, policy makers must try to integrate policies in order to improve health, reduce inequities in health status, and make more efficient use of public resources.

We are not just talking about "health policy". Through our growing understanding of the determinants of health, healthy public policies cut across sectors: justice, education, income tax, unemployment insurance, and social assistance. And not just government policies, healthy public policy must include the actions of organizations within the private and non-profit sectors.

#### **Building Community Capacity**

Investing in communities through capacity building means thinking and acting positively. Rather than starting with an analysis of the "problem", the process begins with mapping assets and identifying opportunities. From there, strategies and investments are designed around the community's strengths. With a clear vision of building a just and caring society where everyone has the opportunity to participate and contribute, social policies can be renewed to ensure that all government business supports that vision.

This contrasts with the more familiar approach that starts with a lengthy "needs assessment" or detailed analysis of threats, problems, and weaknesses.

Government leadership focuses on strategies of coaching, encouragement, and the belief that communities can pull together towards a shared goal. Government allocates resources in recognition of the impact of downloading onto communities.

Shrewd communities have the capacity to deal with various levels of government. They can talk intelligently about policy and enjoy engaging in dialogues about "what is a civil society?" or "how would our community look differently in a civil society"? "Community capacity building" is really about debating and learning from one another.

#### **Empowerment vs. Micro-management**

At all levels, we must learn the difference between governing and managing. Community boards of directors must learn to plan, devise policies, and set targets, trusting their volunteers and staff to implement them. Elected officials should focus on vision, values, and policy, expecting the bureaucracy to make it happen. Senior bureaucrats create the rules, programs, and limitations but refrain from micro-management. Front-line staff need the training, trust, and flexibility to do their work within the parameters set out by legislation and program guidelines.

Healthy public policy is any course of action adopted and pursued by a government, business, or other organization to improve health and reduce inequities in health.

John Millar

#### **Trust and Trustworthiness**

We need the "thinkers" and the "doers". Too often these roles are reversed. Community boards are consumed with details. Senior managers try to control from above. Organizational dysfunction within government, community, and private organizations often traces back to lack of trust and respect for peoples' abilities to do their job without interference.

#### **Emphasis on Prevention Rather than Treatment**

Why are health care costs going up? Why are some youth having troubles? Perhaps we didn't provide enough family support when they were babies. Perhaps we don't invest enough in health promotion and crime prevention.

Heavier investment in prevention strategies would encourage people to get help before they have a crisis, instead of *because* they are having a crisis. We would base social policy programs and services on a population health approach that recognizes the broad determinants of health.

#### Capacity to Learn; Commitment to Innovation

Shrewd communities look for ideas and resources from outside. They are never too proud to borrow someone else's good idea. Successful groups actively seek best practices they can try out. They are committed to innovation. They know how to adapt ideas to local conditions.

#### **Human and Financial Resources**

Communities need money to make things happen. However, social investment is more than financial. It is the investment of trust, time, attention, respect, and policies that enable people and communities to realize their full potential. Social investment puts prevention and health promotion as the highest priority because it has a strong long-term return on the dollar.

#### Flexible Funding for Community Organizations

There is nothing wrong with making a financial contributions to help cover operational costs! This is the life-blood of an organization. Organizations cannot mobilize volunteers or manage effectively without core funding. Project funding may detract from the mission and actually breed inefficiency by encouraging an organization to move in the wrong direction.

Strategic investment in community organizations should actually reduce dependency. Private and public investment can help community organizations leverage investments from other sponsors such as foundations, agencies, and local citizens.

The question is: How do funders measure their return on their dollar? Understandably, funders have no interest in funding dysfunctional organizations whose track record cannot guarantee results.

#### **Investing in People**

People need to be able to work for a living wage. The economy cannot thrive if people have no disposable income. Henry Ford realized that his workers needed to be able to make enough to buy a car. The private sector must not forget this lesson in its rush to compete globally.

Regardless of their ability to participate actively in workforce, we need to pay attention to the life-long needs of people whose capacity is somewhat limited by their age, body, or mind.

#### **Investing in Leaders**

Successful organizations (public, private, or non-profit) have exceptional leaders. At the community level, volunteers, board members, and staff must have those special qualities that lead to community success: immense energy, commitment, diplomacy, tact, patience, as well as the ability to forge consensus and handle conflict. The managers are good analysts, strategists, and communicators with a clear relationship with their boards and volunteers.

#### **Investing in Training**

These traits are not inherent. We need resources for training. Community leaders need access to leadership training, capacity-building tools, strategic planning, conflict resolution, and a host of other skills. New Brunswick has a pool of skilled community development trainers, but there is no mechanism to help communities access their expertise and services.

#### **Investing in Strategic Planning**

The capacity to think, analyze, and plan strategically is a hallmark of success. Successful organizations believe in the value of research upon which to base their planning and evaluation. When organizations have their own house in order, i.e., a clear mission and plan for action, they are in a better position to sit down with their community partners from the private, public, and community sectors to combine efforts. In a global economy, the communities that survive may be those who can most effectively "collaborate to compete".

#### Creation of Appropriate Structures at Each Stage

As the process evolves, the organizational structures must change too. The successful community organizations and partnerships adapt to change, always retaining their local nature and always ensuring that mechanisms for accountability and representation continue. Even when organizations outgrow their usefulness, wise community leaders recognize that the work is more important than the organization. Form follows function.

#### Transition of Power to a Younger Generation of Leaders

Just as we are coming to expect a new type of leadership at the provincial and federal levels, community leaders are also making a similar transition. Older leaders take up roles as mentors and guides, developing leadership skills in the next generation rather than managing the community alone. Shrewd communities accept and acknowledge women in leadership roles. Research shows that women are as involved in their communities as men but their under representation as recognized leaders sometimes results in perceptions that women are not very influential.<sup>61</sup>

#### Accountability

During the 1990s, "doing more with less" seemed to be the sole indicator of success. Now, we want to measure the return on investment.

Rather than just talking about accountability, we want to measure the real results—both quantitative and qualitative.

Currently, government agencies continue to demand that community groups perform all manner of evaluations, report writing, and busy work to justify the money spent. Unfortunately, the short-term nature of granting periods does not permit meaningful evaluation. Nor does intermittent project funding allow community organizations to invest in long-term strategies.

Perhaps provincial governments need to recall the good old days of accounting to the federal government prior to the Canada Health Act. To get their 50 cents back on every dollar spent on health and education, the provinces had to submit elaborate accounts as per eligibility guidelines. Welfare worked the same way. The red tape proved so onerous and counterproductive that in 1977 the federal government agreed to provide the provinces with block payments (CHST) to be spent in accordance with a set of principles enshrined in the Canada Health Act. While the arrangement has never been perfect, the provinces were happier with this accountability mechanism. They could at least spend the money within parameters and standards set by federal government with the freedom to vary services to meet diverse needs. Meting out annual blocks of money, the federal government could now get better control of its finances.

Are there effective mechanisms that encourage results rather instead of punishing with red tape? The federal government has initiated some federal action on this front. Ed Broadbent recently chaired a panel on accountability and governance in the voluntary sector and the panel's report<sup>62</sup> helped instigate the federal government to form cabinet committees of senior government and representatives from the voluntary sector<sup>63</sup> to look at:

- government-community relations
- building community capacity
- the regulatory framework affecting the non-profit sector.

#### **Measuring Return on Investment**

When government views itself as a funder, it is primarily concerned with redistributing money. If government viewed itself as an investor, the process of grant-making would focus on what happens *after* the grant. Instead of tying creative strings and knots to the funds, government grant makers would be more concerned about earning a return on their dollar. Instead of the *process* of funding, their attention would focus on *results*.

We need better tools for targeted grant making that turn attention to the outcome of monies spent in the non-profit sector. Here is where we really need the mindset of the private sector. Following up to find out the ROTI (return on taxpayer's investment) would replace fussing with contracts.<sup>64</sup> Instead of buying service, government would be intent on buying change.

#### **Conscious Civic Transformation**

Sustainable community development is really about transformation of people. The community is in the driver's seat. The community is aware of its collective strengths and opportunities and has a plan to invest in them. There is evidence of community pride. There is emphasis on quality in business and community life. There is a participatory approach to community decision making. There is hope for the future. There is a preference for investing time, talent, and taxes in children and families and community.

#### **Next Steps**

Canadians must make a crucial decision. Should we ask our representatives in Ottawa to invest the surplus in the social economy in order to reap long-term dividends: healthier babies and children, safer communities, and higher education levels? Or do we cut taxes and trust that people will invest those dollars in the Canadian economy to achieve the same results through stronger competition, higher employment, and productivity?

In New Brunswick, we urge the public, private, and non-profit sectors to invest wisely in:

- collaborative leadership among community, government, and the private sector
- · community capacity-building
- human and financial resources.

We believe that New Brunswickers seek a civil caring democratic society. We want to ensure that global forces do not increase the gap between the rich and the poor.

New Brunswickers want to engage government, communities, and the private sector in a dialogue about social policy change. Citizens want to transform outdated policies into "healthy public policy". Maybe globalization has reduced the power of government, but citizens still want their government leaders to be effective facilitators of public debate and collaborative action.

The very idea of broadening one's loyalties and affiliations beyond the narrow confines of the market place and the nationstate to include human species and the planet is revolutionary and portends vast changes in the structuring of society.

Jeremy Rifkin The End of Work It is time to sit down together and work out concrete strategies for investing in children, families, and community in New Brunswick.

We brought fiscal spending under control so we would not pass on unnecessary fiscal debt to our children. We must now renew social policies so we do not pass on the costs and consequences of poverty, ill health, illiteracy, and crime to our children.

# References

- 1. United Nations, Human Development Report 1997 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1998).
- 2. Campaign 2000, Report Card 1997: Child Poverty in Canada (Toronto: Campaign 2000, December 1997).
- 3. Angus Reid, Shakedown: How the New Economic is Changing Our Lives (Toronto: Doubleday Canada Ltd., 1996), p. 128.
- 4. Definition taken from the United Kingdom's Social Exclusion Unit which was set up by the Prime Minister in December 1997 to help improve government action to reduce social exclusion, at <<a href="http://www.cabinet-office.gov.uk/seu/index/faqs.html">http://www.cabinet-office.gov.uk/seu/index/faqs.html</a>>.
- 5. Bruce MacFarlane, "Lord gets modified tax deal," *Times and Transcript* (Moncton), 11 August 1999, p. 1.
- 6. For a review of the "Moncton miracle", see Michel Cormier, "1-800 Moncton," *Canadian Geographic*, 115(4) (July/August 1995), pp. 24–34.
- University of Toronto, Centre for Public Management, The McKenna Miracle: Myth or Reality? (Toronto: University of Toronto, 1996).
- 8. Keith G. Banting, "The Economic and Political Context of Healthy Public Policy," *Proceedings from the Healthy Public Policy Development–Science, Art or Chance?*, 29-30 April 1996, Regina, Saskatchewan, p. 18.
- 9. David Sharpe, *A Portrait of Canada's Charities: The Size, Scope and Financing of Registered Charities* (Toronto: Canadian Centre of Philanthropy, 1994), p. ix.
- 10. Ibid., p. ix. The Canadian Centre of Philanthropy discovered that it is difficult to measure the economic role of the voluntary sector in the economy. Canada's registered charities (which does not include all the non-registered organizations), as a whole, receive more than half (56%) of their revenue from governments which was \$49 billion in 1993 with provincial governments providing the greatest level of funding (48% of all charity revenues and 84% of all government funds). Most government funding is directed to hospitals (35%) and teaching institutions (34%). Other charitable organizations, which comprise over half of all registered charities, receive only 26% of all government funding. Government grants to registered charities in 1993 represented 14% of all government spending (includes hospitals and education).
- 11. For a detailed explanation of how the old safety net was not appropriate for the 1990s, see Judith Maxwell, "Social Dimensions of Economic Growth", Eric J. Hanson Memorial Lecture, University of Alberta, 25 January 1996, at <<www.cprn.com/f\_about/socldfeg.htm>>.
- 12. Social Policy Renewal Secretariat, *Building Tomorrow Today: Discussion Paper on Social Policy* (Fredericton: Social Policy Renewal Secretariat, 1999), p. 8.
- 13. Janis Wood Catano with the Community Health Promotion Network Atlantic, *Child Poverty in Atlantic Canada: A Discussion Paper* (Halifax: Health Programs and Promotion Branch, Health Canada Atlantic Region, January 1998), pp. 26–30.
- 14. For a discussion of the pros and cons of social policy changes by the McKenna government, see Centre for Public Management, University of Toronto, *The McKenna Miracle: Myth or Reality?* (Toronto: University of Toronto, 1996).
- 15. New Brunswick Conservative Party 1999 Platform, at <<a href="http://www.pcnb.org/platform/">http://www.pcnb.org/platform/>>.
- 16. Canadian Institute of Health Association, Child Health Program Working Group, *A Cross-Country Consultation on a National Vision and Goals for Child and Youth Health in Canada: Summary Report.* Produced for the Child, Youth and Family Health Section, Health Canada, May 1995.

- 17. Canadian Institute of Child Health, *The Health of Canada's Children: A CICH Profile* (Ottawa: CICH, 1994).
- 18. David Ross, Mark Kelly and Katherine Scott, *Child Poverty: What are the consequences?* (Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, 1996).
- 19. D. Williams, Literacy Skills of Canadian Youth (Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 1997).
- 20. David Ross, Mark Kelly and Katherine Scott, Child Poverty: What are the consequences?
- 21. Ibid.
- 22. Janis Wood Catano with the Community Health Promotion Network Atlantic, *Child Poverty in Atlantic Canada: A Discussion Paper*.
- 23. Campaign 2000, Child Poverty in Canada: Report Card 1998 (Toronto: Campaign 2000, 1998).
- 24. Statistics Canada #13-217, pp. 21-25.
- 25. New Brunswick Advisory Council on Women, *The Pay Gap: Causes, Consequences and Action* (Moncton: New Brunswick Advisory Council on Women, 1996), p. 4. See also Scott and Lochhead.
- W. W. McVey (ed.), Canadian Studies in Population (Edmonton: Department of Sociology, University of Alberta, 1992), p. 308.
- 27. Statistics Canada Online, at << http://www.statcan.ca>>.
- 28. Statistics Canada, Women in the Labour Force, 1994 edition (Ottawa: Target Groups Project, Statistics Canada, 1995).
- 29. National Council of Welfare, *Poverty Profile 1996* (Ottawa: National Council of Welfare, Spring 1998), p. 85.
- 30. Linda McQuaig has pointed out that the association of the single parent family and poverty is most prevalent in Canada and the United States.
- 31. United Nations Development Program, *Human Development Report*, 1995 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1995).
- 32. Status of Women Canada, *Economic Gender Equality Indicators* (Ottawa: Status of Women Canada, 1997), pp. 5-11, and 28.
- 33. See also Marilyn McHugh and Jane Millar, "Sole Mothers in Australia: Supporting Mothers to Seek Work," for other references to time studies at << www.sprc.unsw.edu.au/papers/dp71.htm>>.
- 34. Marilyn Waring, *Three Masquerades: Essays on Equality, Work and Human Rights* (Aukland: Aukland University Press, 1996), p. 163.
- 35. Marvyn Novick and Richard Shillington, *Mission for the Millennium: A Comprehensive Strategy for Children and Youth*, at <<a href="http://www.campaign.2000.ca/discussion.htm">http://www.campaign.2000.ca/discussion.htm</a>>.
- 36. For one explanation of the motivations and factors that influence federal fiscal policy during the 1990s, see Linda McQuaig, *The Cult of Impotence: Selling the Myth of Powerlessness in the Global Economy* (Toronto: Penguin Books, 1998).
- 37. Paul Krugman, *The Age of Diminished Expectations: U.S. Economic Policy in the* 1990s (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1992), p. 7.
- 38. Ibid., pp. 7-34.
- 39. One in three Canadians between the ages of 25 and 44 identified themselves as workaholics and half of the people in this age bracket feel they don't have enough time for family and friends (1998 General Social Survey, Statistics Canada). As reported in the *Times & Transcript* (Moncton), 10 November 1999, p. D1.
- 40. Donald Savoie, *Rethinking Canada's Regional Development Policy: An Atlantic Perspective*, Maritime Series Monographs (Moncton: The Canadian Institute for Research on Regional Development, University of Moncton, 1997), p. 30.
- 41. Robert G. Evans, Morris L. Barer, and Theodore R. Marmor (eds.), *Why Are Some People Healthy and Others Not? The Determinants of Health of Populations* (New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1994).
- 42. Private goods are those products that are subject to what is called the "exclusion principle". Those who are willing to pay the price get the product, but those who are unwilling to pay are excluded from the benefits provided by the product. If you don't pay for it, you won't get it. Public goods are the services such as national defense, flood-control, lighthouses, roads that are

- enjoyed by everyone because there is no practical way of excluding individuals from the benefits if they refuse to pay. (Highway tolls?) So public goods are provided by the public sector and financed by compulsory charges in the form of taxes.
- 43. Dr. David Ross speaking at a one day conference entitled "Stepping Out of Tradition: Stepping into Health," 5 November 1999.
- 44. David Ross, "Child Poverty in Canada: Recasting the Issue" (Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, April, 1998), at <<a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/recastin.htm">http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/recastin.htm</a>>.
- 45. National Crime Prevention Council, *Preventing Crime By Investing in Families* (Ottawa: National Crime Prevention Council, 1996), p. 3.
- 46. National Crime Prevention Council, *The Dollars and Sense of a Comprehensive Crime Prevention Strategy for Canada, A Report on a Seminar on the Effectiveness of Crime Prevention through Social Development held 30 September 1 October 1996* (Ottawa: National Crime Prevention Council, January 1997). The figures quoted in this publication were drawn from the following National Crime Prevention Council publications: "Safety and Savings: Crime Prevention through Social Development", March 1996 and "Money Well Spent: Investing in Preventing Crime", September 1996.
- 47. National Crime Prevention Council, *Money Well Spent: Investing in Preventing Crime* (Ottawa: Economic Analysis Committe, National Crime Prevention Council, September 1996), p. 1.
- 48. Ibid, p. 2. Also, see the results of the Perry Pre-School Study conducted by the Highscope Foundation at <<hr/>http://www.highscope.org/research/RESPER.HTM>>.
- 49. Crime Prevention Council, *The Dollars and Sense of a Comprehensive Crime Prevention Strategy for Canada*, p. 4.
- 50. Lorraine, Greaves, Olena Hankivsky, and JoAnn Kingston-Riechers, *Selected Estimates of the Costs of Violence Against Women* (London, ON: Centre for Research on Violence Against Women and Children, 1995), p. 2.
- 51. Correspondence with Claude Snow, community activist, Caraquet, N.B., July 1999.
- 52. Ibid.
- 53. Ibid.
- 54. Sherri Torjman, "How Can Communities Reduce Poverty?" *Making Waves* 9(2) (1998), p. 12. Contact: Torjman@caledoninst.org or <<hachter://www.CED works.com>>.
- 55. Ibid., p. 13. Original source: Sherri Torjman, *Community-based Poverty Reduction* (Ottawa: Caledon Institute of Social Policy, February 1998).
- 56. The Urban Core Support Network in Saint John analyzed three barriers to "climbing out of the mineshaft of poverty" in detail: (1) personal barriers, (2) social barriers, and (3) systemic barriers. The list is long and the mine shaft is deep for some. See Urban Core Support Network with the assistance of Status of Women and Sisters of Charity, *Responding to the Voices of Poverty: Are we up for the challenge?* (Saint John: Urban Core Support Network, July 1998). Contact: (506) 634-1673.
- 57. New Brunswick Conservative Party 1999 platform, at <<a href="http://www.pcnb.org/platform/building\_new\_job\_opportunities.htm">http://www.pcnb.org/platform/building\_new\_job\_opportunities.htm</a>>.
- 58. Jim Armstrong and Donald G. Lenihan, *From Controlling to Collaborating: When Governments Want to be Partners: A Report on the Collaborative Partnerships Project*, New Directions Number 3, (Toronto: Institute of Public Administration of Canada, 1999), p. 5.
- 59. This does not mean we expect the government to take on the values and behaviours of the private sector. For an explanation of the fundamental differences between the public and private sector see: Jane Jacobs, *Systems of Survival: A Dialogue on the Moral Foundation of Commerce and Politics* (Toronto: Random House, 1993) and Michael Rachlis and Carol Kushner, *Strong Medicine: How to Save Canada's Health Care System* (Toronto: Harper Collins, 1994), pp. 17–21.
- 60. John P. Kretzmann and John McKnight, Building Communities from the Inside Out: A Path Toward Finding and Mobilizing a Community's Assets (Evanston, IL: Center for Urban Affairs and Policy Research, Neighborhood Innovations Network, Northwestern University, 1993). Contact: 2040 Sheridan Road, Evanston, IL 60208. Tel. (708) 491-3518 Fax (708) 491-9916.
- 61. Lisa Bourke and A. E. Luloff, "What influence does she have in this town? The perceived influence of women in rural Pennsylvania communities?" *Journal of Community Development Society* 29(2) (1998).

- 62. Panel on Accountability and Governance in the Voluntary Sector, *Building on Strength: Improving Governance and Accountability in Canada's Voluntary Sector, Final Report,* February 1999, at <<a href="http://www.web.net/vsr-trsb/pagvs/">< http://www.web.net/vsr-trsb/pagvs/</a>>.
- 63. Working Together: A Government of Canada/Voluntary Sector Joint Initiative, Report of the Joint Tables, August 1999, at <<a href="http://www.web.net/vsr-trsb/publications/pco-e.html">http://www.web.net/vsr-trsb/publications/pco-e.html</a>>.
- 64. Harold S. Williams, Arthur Y. Webb and William J Phillips, *Outcome Funding: A New Approach to Targeted Grantmaking*, Second edition (Rensaelaerville, NY: The Rensaelaerville Institute, 1993).

## Works Consulted

- Armstrong, Jim and Donald G. Lenihan. *From Controlling to Collaborating: When Governments Want to be Partners: A Report on the Collaborative Partnerships Project,* New Directions Number 3. Toronto: Institute of Public Administration of Canada, 1999.
- Baker, Maureen. *The Restructuring of the Canadian Welfare State: Ideology and Policy*. Discussion Paper No. 77. Sydney: Social Policy Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 1996.
- Banting, Keith G. "The Economic and Political Context of Healthy Public Policy." In *Proceedings from Healthy Public Policy Development Science, Art, or Chance?* April 29, 30, 1996, Regina, Saskatchewan. Saskatoon: Prairie Region Health Promotion Research Centre, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK S7N 5E5 Tel: (306) 966-7939 Fax: (306) 966-7920.
- Battle, Ken and Sherri Torjman. "Beware of Governments Bearing Tax Gifts," *Ottawa Citizen*, 9 February 1999.
- Campaign 2000. Child Poverty in Canada: Report Card 1998. Toronto: Campaign 2000, 1998.
- Catano, Janis Wood with the Community Health Promotion Network Atlantic. *Child Poverty in Atlantic Canada: A Discussion Paper*. Halifax: Health Programs and Promotion Branch, Health Canada, Atlantic Region, January 1998.
- Catano, Janis Wood with the Community Health Promotion Network Atlantic. *Talking about Child Poverty in the Atlantic Region: A Discussion Kit.* Halifax: Health Programs and Promotion Branch, Health Canada, Atlantic Region, January 1998.
- Centre for Public Management, University of Toronto. *The McKenna Miracle: Myth or Reality?* Toronto: University of Toronto, 1996.
- Colman, Ronald. *The Economic Value of Unpaid Housework and Child Care in Nova Scotia*. Halifax: GPI Atlantic, November 1998, at <<a href="http://www.gpiatlantic.org/custsites/gpiatlanticQS.nsf">http://www.gpiatlantic.org/custsites/gpiatlanticQS.nsf</a>>.
- Cornish, Mary. Equal Pay, Collective Bargaining and the Law. Ottawa: Labour Canada, 1986.
- Day, Tanis. The Health-Related Costs of Violence Against Women in Canada: The Tip of the Iceberg. London, ON: Centre for Research on Violence Against Women and Children, 1995. Phone: (519) 858-5033.
- Gorlick, Carolyne and Guy Brethour. *Welfare-to-Work Programs: A National Inventory*. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, 1999.
- ——. Welfare-to-Work Programs: A Discussion Paper. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, 1999.
- Greaves, Lorraine, Olena Hankivsky, and JoAnn Kingston-Riechers. *Selected Estimates of the Costs of Violence Against Women*. London, ON: Centre for Research on Violence Against Women and Children, 1995.
- Health Canada. *Turning Points: The National Goals for Healthy Child and Youth Development*. Ottawa: Family and Child Health Unit, Childhood and Youth Division, Health Canada, 1997.
- Health Canada, Women's Health Bureau. *Promoting Women's Health: Making Inroads into Canadian Health Policy*. Ottawa: Health Canada, January 1999.
- Human Resources Development New Brunswick. From Options to Action: A New Social Assistance Policy Blueprint. Fredericton: Human Resources Development New Brunswick, no date.
- -----. Annual Report 1997–98. Fredericton: Human Resources Development New Brunswick, 1998.

- Jacobs, Jane. *Systems of Survival: a Dialogue on the Moral Foundation of Commerce and Politics*. Toronto: Random House, 1993.
- Kretzmann, John P. and John McKnight. *Building Communities from the Inside Out: A Path Toward Finding and Mobilizing a Community's Assets*. Evanston, IL: Center for Urban Affairs and Policy Research, Neighborhood Innovations Network, Northwestern University, 1993. Contact: 2040 Sheridan Road, Evanston, IL 60208. Tel. (708) 491-3518 Fax (708) 491-9916.
- Krugman, Paul. *The Age of Diminished Expectations: U.S. Economic Policy in the 1990s.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1992.
- Lewis, Mike. *The Ecology of Success: The Problem of Scaling Up What Works in CED*, at <<a href="http://www.cedworks.com/waves/article\_2.html">http://www.cedworks.com/waves/article\_2.html</a>>.
- Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, at << http://www.medicine.dal.ca/mcewh>>.
- Maxwell, Judith. "Social Dimensions of Economic Growth", Eric J. Hanson Memorial Lecture, University of Alberta, 25 January 1996, at <<a href="http://www.cprn.com/f\_about/socIdfeg.htm">http://www.cprn.com/f\_about/socIdfeg.htm</a>>.
- McHugh, Marilyn and Jane Miller. Sole Mothers in Australia: Supporting Mothers to Seek Work. Discussion Paper No. 71. Sydney: Social Policy Research Centre, University of New South Wales, November 1996.
- McQuaig, Linda. *The Cult of Impotence: Selling the Myth of Powerlessness in the Global Economy*. Toronto: Penguin, 1998.
- McQuaig, Linda. The Wealthy Banker's Wife: The Assault on Equality in Canada. Toronto: Penguin, 1993.
- McVey, W. W. (ed.). Canadian Studies in Population. Edmonton: Department of Sociology, University of Alberta, 19 February 1992.
- Millar, John. "Public Policy, Health Policy, Healthy Public Policy. What's the Difference?" In *Proceedings from Healthy Public Policy Development—Science, Art, or Chance?* 29–30 April 1996, Regina, Saskatchewan. Saskatoon: Prairie Region Health Promotion Research Centre, University of Saskatchewan, 1997. Contact: Saskatoon, SK S7N 5E5 Tel: (306) 966-7939 Fax: (306) 966-7920.
- National Council of Welfare. *Poverty Profile* 1996. Ottawa: National Council of Welfare, Spring 1998. Tel. (613) 957-2961 E-mail: ncw@magi.com
- New Brunswick Advisory Council on the Status of Women. *Mapping the Future*. Moncton: New Brunswick Advisory Council on the Status of Women, February 1999.
- ——. The Pay Gap: Causes, Consequences and Actions. Moncton: New Brunswick Advisory Council on the Status of Women, May 1996.
- New Brunswick Women's Research Collective. *Building a Foundation for Gender-Based Analysis in New Brunswick, Phase I.* Fredericton and Shediac: New Brunswick Women's Research Collective, 1998.
- Novick, Marvyn and Richard Shillington. *Mission for the Millennium: A Comprehensive Strategy for Children and Youth.* At <<a href="http://www.campaign2000.ca/discussion.htm">http://www.campaign2000.ca/discussion.htm</a>>.
- Rachlis, Michael and Carol Kushner. *Strong Medicine: How to Save Canada's Health Care System*. Toronto: Harper Collins, 1994.
- Raphael, Dennis. From Increasing Poverty to Societal Disintegration: Economic Inequality and the Future Health of Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto, 1999, at <<a href="http://www.interlog.com/~cjazz/bnews2.htm">http://www.interlog.com/~cjazz/bnews2.htm</a>>.
- Reid Angus. Shakedown: How the New Economic is Changing our Lives. Toronto: Doubleday Canada Ltd., 1996.
- Ross, David. "Canada's Children ... Canada's Future: A National Conference." Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, November 1996, at <<a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/sp\_dross.htm">http://www.ccsd.ca/sp\_dross.htm</a>>.
- ——. "Child Poverty in Canada: Recasting the Issue." Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, April 1998, at <<a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/recastin.htm">http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/recastin.htm</a>.
- ——. "Who Will Speak for Canada's Children?" Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, 1999, at <<a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/speak.html">http://www.ccsd.ca/speak.html</a>>.
- ——. "Rethinking Child Poverty." *Insight: An Information Series*, at << http://www.ccsd.ca/perception/insite8.htm>>.

#### **Contacts**

Mary Simpson Writer for the New Brunswick Reference Group Voice: (506) 758-0987 E-mail: swvced@ nbnet.nb.ca P.O. Box 825 Memramcook, N.B. E0A 2C0

Linda Snyder Atlantic Project Co-ordinator c/o MCEWH

MCEWH is supported by Dalhousie University and the IWK Grace Health Centre. MCEWH is also financially supported by the Women's Health Bureau of Health Canada and through generous anonymous contributions.



Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health

Le Centre D'Excellence pour la Santé des Femmes-Region des Maritimes

5940 South Street PO Box / CP 3070 - Halifax Nova Scotia/Nouvelle Écosse Canada B3J 3G9

Tel/Tél (902) 420-6725

Toll Free/Linge sans Frais 1-888-658-1112

Fax/Télécopieur (902) 420-6752

E-Mail/Courrier Électr. MCEWH@dal.ca

Website www.medicine.dal.ca/mcewh





- Ross, David P. and Paul Roberts. *Income and Child Well-Being: A New Perspective on the Poverty Debate*. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, May 1999, at <<a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/inckids/es.htm">http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/inckids/es.htm</a>>.
- ——. "Does Family Income Affect the Healthy Development of Children?" *Canadian Council on Social Development Perception* 21(1) June 1997.
- Saul, John Ralston. *Reflections of a Siamese Twin: Canada at the End of the Twentieth Century*. Toronto: Viking, 1997.
- Schorr, Lisbeth B. *Common Purpose: Strengthening Families and Neighborhoods to Rebuild America*. New York: Anchor Books, Doubleday, 1997.
- Scott, Katherine. "Investing in Canada's Children: Our Current Record." *Insight: An Information Series*, at <<a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/per\_ins.htm">http://www.ccsd.ca/per\_ins.htm</a>>.
- Scott, Katherine, and Clarence Lochhead. *Are Women Catching up in the Earnings Race?* Social Research Report No. 3. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development, July 1997.
- Sharpe, David. A Portrait of Canada's Charities: The Size, Scope and Financing of Registered Charities. Toronto: Canadian Centre of Philanthropy, 1994.
- Social Policy Renewal Secretariat. *Building Tomorrow Together. New Brunswick Discussion Paper on Social Policy.* Fredericton: Social Policy Renewal Secretariat, 1999, at <<a href="http://www.gov.nb.ca/spr/discussion.htm">http://www.gov.nb.ca/spr/discussion.htm</a>>.
- Statistics Canada. *Women in the Labour Force*, 1994 Edition. Ottawa: Target Groups Project, Statistics Canada, 1995. Catalogue #75-507E.

Statistics Canada, at <<www.statcan.ca>>.

- Status of Women Canada. *Economic Gender Equality Indicators*. Ottawa: Status of Women Canada, 1997 (Cat. no. SW21-17/1997E).
- Torjman, Sherri. *Strategies for a Caring Society*. Ottawa: Caledon Institute of Social Policy, 1998.
- ——. Dumb and Dumber Government Rules. Ottawa: Caledon Institute of Social Policy, 1998.
- United Nations. *Human Development Report, 1997*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1998.
- Urban Core Support Network. *Responding to the Voices of Poverty: Are we up for the challenge?* Saint John: Urban Core Support Network, July 1998.
- Violence Prevention and the Girl Child: Final Report. The Alliance of Five Research Centres on Violence, February 1999.
- Waring, Marilyn. *Three Masquerades: Essays on Equality, Work and Human Rights*. Aukland: Aukland University Press, 1996.
- Williamson, Deanna L., and Linda Reutter. "Defining and Measuring Poverty: Implications for the Health of Canadians," *Health Promotion International* (14(4) (1999), pp. 355–63.
- Yalniziyan, Armine. *The Growing Gap Report*. Toronto: Centre for Social Justice, at << www.socialjustice.org>>.